No. 43764- 3- II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE FILIPINO AMERICAN LEAGUE,

Plaintiff, Respondent

v.

LUCENA CARINO,

Defendant, Petitioner.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Patrick Hollister Attorney for Petitioner WSBA #41492

Kram and Wooster, P.S. 1901 South I Street Tacoma, WA 98405 253-572-4161 pat@kjwmlaw.com

I.

III. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

- The trial court erred by applying the statutory scheme of RCW 8.24.250 - .290 for the first time post-default judgment in violation of the policy intent of the scheme and in conflict with other public policy. CP 27
- The trial court erred by awarding Plaintiff attorney's fees under RCW 8.24.290 without Plaintiff qualifying for an award under RCW 8.24.250. CP 27
- 3. The trial court erred by awarding attorney's fees under RCW 8.24.290 without Plaintiff ever making a settlement offer or providing Defendant notice of the consequences of declining the offer. CP 27
- 4. The trial court erred by awarding attorney's fees based on a statute not pleaded, argued, or with cited authority. CP 13

Issues related to assignment of error

- 1. Can the statutory scheme under RCWs 4.84.250-.290 be properly applied for the first time post-default judgment when doing so creates an unintended and inordinate risk to defendants discouraging access to the courts and disenfranchising them from use of existing provisions enacted to redress default judgments?
- 2. Under RCWs 4.84.290 are attorneys' fees on appeal permitted when the Plaintiff does not qualify for an award under RCW 4.84.250?

- 3. Under RCWs 4.84.250-290 are attorneys' fees on appeal permitted for a party that neither made an offer of settlement nor provided notice of the consequences for rejecting an offer of settlement?
- 4. Under RALJ 11.2(c) and RAP 18.1 is a party on appeal entitled an award of attorneys' fees when the basis for those fees was not an issue on appeal, was not pleaded, was not argued, and was not cited with authority in the appellate brief?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent/Plaintiff, The Filipino American League (hereafter "FAL"), was awarded a default judgment of \$5,079.00 in small claims court against Petitioner/Defendant Lucena Carino for allegedly misappropriating funds. CP 6. Ms. Carino obtained an order to show cause and requested the judgment to be set aside. CP 6. This motion was heard and denied September 15, 2011, in the Thurston County District Court without findings of fact or conclusions of law. CP 6. In its answer to the Motion to Show Cause filed the day before the hearing, FAL provided documentation directly identifying some of the alleged misappropriated funds were within FAL's possession. CP 10, p1-2. Ms. Carino had no opportunity to review this material prior to trial and was unable to argue its significance. CP 10, p5, ¶12.

Ms. Carino timely filed a notice of appeal on October 10, 2011, to Superior Court on the basis that evidence in the Plaintiff's own District Court filing demonstrated the funds were not misappropriated. CP 4. FAL responded on February 27, 2012, and filed a Motion to Strike Portions of Appellant's Appeal alleging that its submissions to the District Court should not be permitted as evidence on appeal. CP 4. This motion was granted leaving no evidence available to either support or deny the alleged misappropriation ever occurred. CP 22.

The appeal of the District Court decision itself was heard and the lower court decision upheld on April 16, 2012. CP 6. To this point the only request for attorney's fees was associated with alleged contraversion of garnishment. RP p7, ¶11-12. That request was denied in the District Court and again on appeal in Superior Court. Id.

After final judgment was orally announced by the court, including denial of attorneys' fees on the basis of contraversion of garnishment, the Judge himself introduced exploring attorney's fees on other basis associated only with defending an appeal. RP p9, ¶19-23. The Judge offered to entertain new claims and arguments for attorney's fees. RP p9, \$24-p10, \$4.

Appellant, FAL, submitted a Declaration of Counsel in Support of Attorney's Fees on May 4, 2012. CP 24. The Declaration cited a shotgun

of 4 possible bases for attorney's fees including RCW 4.84.250, all advanced for the first time and citing no case authority for any. Id. Appellant, Ms. Carino, submitted her Response to Respondent's Request for Attorney's Fees on Appeal, on May 10, 2012. CP 25.

The court issued a Letter Opinion granting attorney's fees selectively for arguing the appeal on June 13, 2012. CP 33. The Letter Opinion cited as the basis for granting fees RCW 4.84.290, concluding that the otherwise required notice to the opposing party was not necessary in this case because as a default judgment there was never a time or opportunity for the Plaintiff to provide notice to the Defendant. CP 27.

The Order and Judgment on Appeal was issued July 16, 2012. CP 33. Ms. Carino timely filed her Notice of Appeal in Division Two of the Washington State Court of Appeals on July 26, 2012. CP 34. After the Notice of Appeal was rejected by the Case Manager as not appealable as a matter of right, and the subsequent Motion to Modify was also denied, Ms. Carino submitted her Motion for Discretionary review September 6, 2012. This motion was approved January 18, 2013.

V. ARGUMENT

a. Standard of Review

The issues in this appeal involve statutory interpretation. Statutory interpretation is a question of law reviewed de novo. *State v. Wentz*, 149 Wash.2d 342, 346, 68 P.3d 282 (2003). Interpreting statutes requires the court to discern and implement the legislature's intent. State v. J.P., 149 Wash.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003). *Williams v. Tilaye*, 174 Wn.2d 57, 61, 272 P.3d 235 (Wash. 2012) citing *State v. Wentz*, 149 Wash.2d 342, 346, 68 P.3d 282 (2003). Interpreting statutes requires the court to discern and implement the legislature's intent. *Id.* citing *State v. J.P.*, 149 Wash.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003).

- b. Applying RCW 4.84.250 290 Post-default is Improper Because Doing so Disenfranchises Defendants From Existing Provisions to Redress Default by Establishing an Inordinate Risk to the Defendant.
 - i. The Public Policy of RCW 4.84.250-.290, is to Encourage Pre-trial Settlements By Placing Parties at Risk for Paying Opposing Party Attorney's Fees

The Washington Supreme Court recently re-affirmed that the public policy fostered by RCW 4.84.250-.290, is to encourage pre-trial settlements in cases where the amount in controversy is \$10, 000 or less. *Williams v. Tilaye*, 174 Wn.2d 57, 58, 272 P.3d 235 (Wash. 2012). This objective is achieved through a party making an offer of settlement at least

10 days prior to the initial hearing. *Id.* at 59. The offer of settlement is required to place the other party on notice that it would seek attorneys' fees if the offer were not accepted. *Toyota of Puyallup, Inc. v. Tracy*, 63 Wn.App. 346, 353-4, 818 P.2d 1122 (Wash.App. Div. 2 1991). See *In re the Matter of the 1992 Honda Accord*, 117 Wn.App. 510, 524, 71 P.3d 226 (Wash.App. Div. 3 2003)(Plaintiff cannot recover fees because he did not give notice of his intent to seek fees under RCW 4.84.250).

ii. The Interest of Encouraging Pre-trial Settlements Requires Cautions Application Because It Also Works to Deter Access to the Courts

The Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution holds that no state shall deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law. Article 1, Section 3 of the Washington State Constitution likewise states that no person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.

In American jurisprudence certain principles are relatively immutable. One such principle is that when the reasonableness of judicial action against an individual depends upon fact finding the individual must have a fair opportunity to show that it is not true. *Greene v. McElroy*, 360 U.S. 474, 496, 79 S.Ct. 1400, 3 L.Ed.2d 1377 (1959). The principle is even more important where the evidence consists of the testimony of individuals whose memory might be faulty or who, in fact, might be

perjurers or persons motivated by malice, vindictiveness, intolerance, prejudice, or jealousy. *Id*.

Against this principal of allowing a defendant to argue the truth of alleged facts, Washington recognizes a balancing interest. Particularly in actions involving small dollar claims the state seeks to encourage out-of-court settlements to promote judicial efficiency, penalize parties who unjustifiably bring or resist small claims, and enable a party to pursue a meritorious small claim without seeing the award diminished by legal fees incurred through defending an appeal. *Beckmann v. Spokane Transit Auth.*, 107 Wn.2d 785, 788, 733 P.2d 960 (1987). The balancing interest regarding small claims is the policy intent of RCW 4.84.250-.290 (hereinafter "the statutory scheme"). *Id*.

Accordingly the prevailing party in a small claim action is entitled to attorney's fees (RCW 4.84.250) should that party recover more than it offered in settlement (RCW 4.84.260), which offer was at least ten days prior to trial (RCW 4.84.280). In addition, if on appeal the prevailing party would be entitled to fees under RCW 4.84.250, the court shall also allow fees for defending the appeal. RCW 4.84.290.

iii. Application of RCW 4.84.250 - .290 to Cases Post-Default Judgment Creates An Unintended and Inordinate Risk to Defendants Discouraging Access to the Courts and

Disenfranchising Them From Use of Existing Provisions Enacted to Redress Default Judgments

"The right to sue and defend in the courts is the alternative of force. In an organized society it is the right conservative of all other rights, and lies at the foundation of orderly government. It is one of the highest and most essential privileges of citizenship..."

Chambers v. Baltimore & Ohio Railroad Co., 207 U.S. 142, 148 (1907).

Default judgments are recognized as one of the most drastic actions a court may take to punish disobedience to its commands. *Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc.*, 92 Wn.2d 576, 599 P.2d 1289 (Wash. 1979), citing *Widucus v. Southwestern Elec. Cooperative, Inc.*, 26 Ill.App.2d 102, 109, 167 N.E.2d 799 (1960). The punishment of a default judgment allows a plaintiff with a faulty memory or a perjurer or person motivated by malice, vindictiveness, intolerance, prejudice, or jealousy to prevail without a defendant having argued the alleged facts. *Beckmann v. Spokane Transit Auth.*, at 788. Rather the policy of law desires that controversies be determined on the merits rather than by default. *Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc.*, at 582.

The legislature and the court established a separate scheme to mitigate the potential harsh results of a default judgment. Washington codified the right for a defaulting party in District Court to seek to have that judgment set aside on appeal. RCW 12.40.120. For good cause

shown and upon such terms as the court deems just, the court may set aside an entry of default and, if a judgment by default has been entered, may likewise set it aside in accordance with rule 60(b). CRLJ 55(c). CRLJ 60(b) specifies no less than 11 reasons for which the court might set aside a default judgment. Id.

Application of the small claims statutory scheme beyond its limited intended scope is improper because it creates unintended incentives affecting legal rights. In *Williams v. Tilaye* an unsuccessful plaintiff made a settlement offer after mandatory arbitration and prior to a trial de novo contending that the statutory scheme should apply. *Williams v. Tilaye*, 174 Wn.2d 57, 64, 272 P.3d 235 (Wash. 2012). The Court disagreed stating that such an application would compromise the scheme's intent by increasing the incentive for an unsuccessful plaintiff to appeal. Then under the threat of legal fees that may be greater than the underlying claim a prevailing defendant would have an inordinate incentive to settle. *Id*.

Though the fact pattern in *Williams* is not precisely on point, the case is precisely on point to illustrate the unintended incentives created by expanding the scope of the statutory scheme. Attempting to apply the statutory scheme post default judgment directly confronts the separate statutory provision to redress default judgments. Just like in *Williams*

where expanding the statutory scope created an inordinate and unintended risk for the defendant, so too application of the scheme after a default judgment would create an inordinate risk for the defendant considering redress of the default judgment. Under this circumstance a defaulting defendant considering appeal is already liable to post a bond, and pay their own attorneys fees for trial. If the statutory scheme were expanded to include post default appeals, the defaulting defendant would also need to consider the risk of paying opposing party fees.

The statutory scheme was intended to promote pre-trial settlement. Expanding the scope to attempt to motivate party behavior post trial, even in the limited case of default judgments, creates secondary incentives affecting legal rights not intended to be affected by the statutory scheme.

Because a post-default application of RCW 4.84.250 - .290, creates an unintended and inordinate risk to defendants, discouraging access to the courts and disenfranchising them from use of existing provisions enacted to redress default judgments, its application in this case should be overturned.

c. Applying RCW 4.84.250 – 290 Post-default is Improper Because The Necessary Expansion of the Scope of the Statutory Scheme Requires The Court to Put Itself in the Place of the Legislature Establishing Statutory Mechanisms Necessary for Its Implementation.

i. Recovery Under RCW 4.84.290 Requires as a Pre-requisite a Party's Entitlement to Recovery Under RCW 4.84.250.

The award of attorney's fees on appeal of a small claim is governed by RCW 4.84.290. Accordingly a prevailing party on appeal of a small claim is entitled to attorney's fees *if the prevailing party* on appeal would be entitled to attorneys' fees under the provisions of RCW 4.84.250. RCW 4.84.290. Qualifying for attorney's fees under RCW 4.84.250 is a pre-requisite to consideration of fees under RCW 4.84.290. Id.

This understanding was precisely the rule of *Hertz v. Riebe*, 86 Wn.App. 102, 107, 936 P.2d 24 (Wash.App. Div. 3 1997). In that case the court was confronted by its earlier rule in *Valley v. Hand* where it determined that since RCW 4.84.290 made no mention of an offer of settlement such an offer was unnecessary to recover fees. *Valley v. Hand*, 38 Wn.App. 170, 173, 684 P.2d 1341 (Wash.App. Div. 3 1984). In the *Hertz* case the court specifically overruled *Valley v. Hand* on that point stating that recovery under 4.84.290 was available only if the prevailing party would be entitled to recovery under 4.84.250. *Hertz v. Riebe*, at 107.

ii. Recovery Under RCW 4.84.250 Requires That Prior to Trial a Party Make an Offer of Settlement AND Give Notice of the Consequences of Declining That Offer Under RCW 4.84.290 a party is entitled to attorney's fees on appeal from a small claim judgment only if that party made an offer or otherwise notified the opposing party of his intent to seek legal fees prior to the initial trial. *Kalich v. Clark*, 215 P.3d 1049 (Wash.App. Div. 3 2009). In the case of *Kalich*, the plaintiff did in fact prior to trial make an offer of settlement and place the defendant on notice that it would pursue attorney's fees if it was required to appeal. Mr. Kalich did appeal and was awarded attorney's fees under RCW 4.84.290.

The case record addressing this statutory scheme consistently recognizes the essential pre-requisite to implicate the statutory scheme: 1) an offer of settlement, and 2) notice of the impact of declining that offer, both made prior to trial. *Hertz v. Riebe*, 86 Wn.App. 102, 936 P.2d 24 (Wash.App. Div. 3 1997), see *Williams v. Tilaye*, at 64 (noting "Our Courts of Appeal have been careful to limit each statutory scheme for prevailing party attorney fees to its appropriate application"), see *Lay v. Hass*, 112 Wn.App. 818, 824, 51 P.3d 130 (Wash.App. Div. 2 2002) (noting common law requires that the party from whom attorney fees are sought receive notice Before trial that it may be subject to fees under the statute).

In Toyota of Puyallup, Inc., v. Tracy, a defendant made a settlement offer prior to trial but failed to notify the plaintiff of the

consequences of not accepting the offer. Toyota of Puyallup, Inc., v. Tracy, 63 Wn.App. 346, 818 P.2d 1122 (Wash.App. Div. 2 1991). Because knowledge of the risk of not accepting an offer is a required prerequisite to implicate the statutory scheme, the failure of the defendant to provide that notice defeated his claim for fees. Id., at 354.

iii. Enforcing Recovery After a Default Judgment Would Require The Court To Read Into the Statutory Language a Requirement of a Post-Trial and Pre-Appeal Offer of Settlement And Notice of Consequences of Not Accepting That Offer

The intent of the statutory scheme is to encourage out-of-court settlements. Without the provision of notice the application of the scheme would be no more than a bludgeon to punish the unwary. Thus even if the court can accept the unintended incentives created by broadening the scope of the statutory scheme, fostering the legislative intent would require the court to read into the statutory scheme the requirements otherwise required pre-trial. The court would need to read into the statutory scheme a requirement for a party to provide the other party with a post trial and pre-appeal settlement offer and notice of the consequences of declining that offer.

Reading such terms into the statutory scheme would be a stretch. If the legislature intended to encourage out-of-court settlements in lieu of appeal, it could have written a statutory scheme to directly promote that outcome, and do so in an environment including deliberative consideration of the inevitable indirect consequences. The existing scheme is intended to encourage out-of-court settlements prior to the initial trial. If that opportunity is moot, the statutory scheme is not applicable.

Because applying RCW 4.84.250 – 290 post-default expands the scope of the statutory scheme to an extent that requires the court to put itself in the place of the Legislature to establish the statutory mechanisms necessary for its implementation, the application is improper, and its application in this case should be overturned.

Further, under any construction of the statutory scheme a prerequisite for application is an offer of settlement and notice of the consequences of declining that offer. Neither of these pre-requisites was ever made in this case, and as such upholding the award would effectively make the statutory scheme a bludgeon for the unwary. For these reasons as well the award of attorney's fees was improper and should be overturned.

d. Awarding Attorneys Fees is Improper in This Case Because Their Award Is Predicated on a Pre-Trial Pleading That Did Not Occur.

Awarding of attorney's fees on appeal of a judgment from a court of limited jurisdiction is governed by RALJ 11.2. That rule reads in pertinent part as follows:

(c) Argument in Brief. The party should devote a section of the brief to the request for the fees or expenses.

RALJ 11.2

The rule for awarding attorney's fees on appeal to courts of general jurisdiction is nearly identical.

(b) Argument in Brief. The party must devote a section of its opening brief to the request for the fees or expenses. ... In a motion on the merits pursuant to rule 18.14, the request and supporting argument must be included in the motion or response if the requesting party has not yet filed a brief.

RAP 18.1

This issue has been thoroughly litigated. The Rule [RAP 18.1] governing attorney fees and expenses requires more than a bald request for attorney fees on appeal. In re Marriage of Coy, 160 Wn.App. 797, 808, 248 P.3d 1101 (Wash.App. Div. 2 2011), see Phillips Bldg. Co., Inc. v. An, 81 Wash.App. 696, 915 P.2d 1146 (1996). A request for appellate attorney fees requires a party to include a separate section in her or his brief devoted to the request. RAP 18.1(b). This requirement is mandatory. Phillips Bldg. Co. v. An, at 705. The rule requires more than a bald request for attorney fees on appeal. Thweatt v. Hommel, 67 Wash.App.

135, 148, 834 P.2d 1058, review denied, 120 Wash.2d 1016, 844 P.2d 436 (1992). Argument and citation to authority are required under the rule to advise the court of the appropriate grounds for an award of attorney fees as costs. Austin v. U.S. Bank of Wash., 73 Wash.App. 293, 313, 869 P.2d 404, review denied, 124 Wash.2d 1015, 880 P.2d 1005 (1994). Stiles v. Kearney, 168 Wn.App. 250, 267, 277 P.3d 9 (Wash.App. Div. 2 2012). Just Dirt, Inc. v. Knight Excavating, Inc., 138 Wash.App. 409, 157 P.3d 431 (2007).

The only request the Filipino American League made for attorney's fees in any of its pleadings, let alone its appellate brief, was associated with its claim of contraversion of garnishment. That request was denied in both the lower court and the Superior court. It made no further request for attorney's fees. No other request was pleaded or argued in any pre-judgment hearing.

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