## ORIGINAL

No. 43764-3-11

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

#### THE FILLIPINO AMERICAN LEAGUE,

Respondent/Plaintiff,

LUCENA CARINO,

v.

Petitioner/Defendant.



### RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

Chad E. Ahrens, WSBA No. 36149 SMITH ALLING, P.S. Attorneys for Respondent The Filipino American League

Smith Alling, P.S. 1102 Broadway Plaza, Ste. 403 Tacoma, Washington 8402 Telephone: (253) 627-1091 Facsimile: (253) 627-0123

###

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

#### III. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

Statutory interpretation questions are questions of law that is subject to review de novo. Dot Foods, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 166 Wash.2d 912, 919, 215 P.3d 185 (2009). The Court's primary duty in interpreting the statute is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent. Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010). Statutory interpretation begins with the statute's plain meaning. Id. When the plain language is unambiguous, the legislative intent is apparent and we will not construe the statute otherwise. State v. J.P., 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003). To determine the intent of the legislature in adopting legislation, we read a statutory provision in context with the whole statutory scheme and related statutes. See *Dep't of Ecology* v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 11-12, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). Further, the plain meaning of a statute may be discerned from all that the legislature has said in the statute and related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question. State v. J.P., 149 Wn.2d 444.

Reasonable attorney fees assessed against the party that appeals an arbitration award and fails to improve its position on appeal are meant to discourage meritless appeals of arbitration awards. *Williams v. Tilaye*. 174 Wn.2d 57, 272 P.3d 235 (2012)

The Award should be upheld under an abuse of discretion standard because the Superior Court's reasoning in issuing such an award is tenable and can be reconciled with applicable case law concerning RCW 4.84.290. As cited in Petitioner's Brief, one of the main underlying purposes of RCW 4.84.250-310 is to "encourage out-of-court settlement of small claims, and to penalize parties who unjustifiably pursue or resist the claims." See *Harold Meyer Drug v. Hurd*, 23 Wn. App. 683, 687, 598 P.2d 404 (1979). In the present case, where a default judgment is obtained, this purpose is not placed in jeopardy because, by definition, the parties never have an opportunity for an out-of-court settlement.

As in the present case, where a defendant fails to answer a complaint and a default is obtained, a denial of an award of attorney's fees and costs under RCW 4.84.290 allows a defendant to remain idle without penalty. In reversing FAL's Award, defendants in Petitioner's proverbial shoes would have little to no incentive to ensure their timely response to a complaint as they could rely on the right to appeal a small claims judgment without risk of attorney's fees and costs. On the other hand, plaintiffs in Petitioner's shoes would not have an opportunity for a pretrial offer of settlement. While it is likely to be limited to a small number of cases, the end result is a small claim that is dragged on through an appeal process with attorney's fees and costs far exceeding the underlying

controversy. Indeed, in evaluating the present case, one could articulate a case that a reversal of the Superior Court's award would result in a penalty to FAL for obtaining a default because it could not avail itself of the benefit, i.e. attorney's fees and costs as prevailing party, under an offer pursuant to RCW 4.84.250-310 meanwhile Petitioner could use the appeal process to drastically increase FAL's cost to collect on its Judgment without the incentive to settle and avoid a potential award of attorney's fees and costs. The ultimate result in upholding Petitioner's argument is that defendants have less incentive to resolve small claims judgments taking by default.

### A. The Superior Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Awarding FAL's Attorney's Fee and Costs

A trial court's decision to grant or deny attorney fees will not be disturbed in the absence of an abuse of discretion. *Déjà Vu–Everett–Federal Way, Inc. v. City of Federal Way,* 96 Wn. App. 255, 263, 979 P.2d 464 (1999). A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is "manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons." *Tribble v. Allstate Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 134 Wn. App. 163, 170, 139 P.3d 373 (2006) (quoting *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971)). A trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable if it is outside the range of acceptable choices. *Teter v. Deck*, 174 Wn.2d 207, 274 P.3d 336, 343 (2012). Generally, in

order to reverse a fee award, it must be shown that the trial court manifestly abused its discretion. *Boeing Co. v. Sierracin Corp.*, 108 Wn.2d 38, 65, 738 P.2d 665 (1987). Accordingly, if a trial court's ruling is based upon tenable grounds and is within the bounds of reasonableness, it must be upheld. *Est. of Stevens*, 94 Wn. App. at 30, 971 P.2d 58 (quoting *Lindgren v. Lindgren*, 58 Wn. App. 588, 595, 794 P.2d 526 (1990)). Further, reasonable attorney fees assessed against the party that appeals an arbitration award and fails to improve its position on appeal are meant to discourage meritless appeals of arbitration awards. *Williams v. Tilave*, 174 Wn.2d 57, 272 P.3d 235(2012).

Here, in awarding FAL its fees and costs on appeal, the Superior Court Judge did not abuse his discretion. In particular, the Superior Court Judge expressly articulated that the cases primarily relied upon by the Petitioner, *Williams v. Tilaye* and *Hertz v. Reibe*, were distinguishable from the present case in that both cases involved parties who sought or were awarded attorney's fees and costs on appeal *after a trial. See Williams v. Tilaye*, 174 Wn. 2d 57, 272 P.3d 235, 237 (2012); *Hertz v. Riebe*, 86 Wn. App. 102, 936 P.2d 24, 26 (1997) respectively; *See* CP 33. Contrary to those cases, where a party had an opportunity to tender a settlement offer "at least 10 days before trial," FAL obtained a default at Small Claims Court and had no such opportunity. RCW 4.84.250; *See* CP

33. Thus, Judge Tabor expressly reasoned that, even if it so desired, FAL could not avail itself of an offer of settlement because it obtained a default judgment against Petitioner. *See* CP 33.

This result seems particularly inequitable when considering the alternative, i.e. Petitioner, as defendant, makes no offer of settlement. In that case, Petitioner benefits as she can be the prevailing party where FAL recovers nothing. RCW 4.84.270.<sup>3</sup> If a defendant is able obtain its attorney's fees and costs by remaining idle with regard to settlement (other than plaintiff recovering zero), it seems equitable that a plaintiff would be entitled to its attorney's fees and costs on appeal where it has no opportunity to offer settlement prior to obtaining a default judgment.

RCW 4.84.250-330 involve multiple purposes of encouraging out-of-court settlements, penalizing parties who unjustifiably bring or resist small claims, and enabling a party to pursue a meritorious small claim without seeing the award diminished by legal fees. *Beckmann v. Spokane Transit Auth.*, 107 Wn.2d 785, 788, 733 P.2d 960 (1987) (citing *Valley v. Hand*, 38 Wn.App. 170, 684 P.2d 1341 (1984); *Northside Auto Serv., Inc. v. Consumers United Ins. Co.*, 25 Wn.App. 486, 492, 607 P.2d 890 (1980)). Consistent with the aforementioned purposes, the Superior

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As a prevailing party under RCW 4.84.270, a defendant would also be entitled to an award of its attorney's fees and costs on appeal under RCW 4.84.290.

Court's Award operates to "penalizing [Petitioner for] unjustifiably bring[ing] or resist[ing] small claims, and enabling [FAL] to pursue a meritorious small claim without seeing the award diminished by legal fees..." *Id*.

For the foregoing reasons, the Superior Court's Award did not involve an abuse of discretion and, therefore, must be upheld.

## B. FAL Is Entitled to Attorney's Fees and Costs as Prevailing Party On The RALJ Appeal

A prevailing party is entitled to attorney fees if fees are authorized by contract, statute, or a recognized equitable ground. *Seattle First Nat'l Bank v. Siebol*, 64 Wn. App. 401, 409, 824 P.2d 1252, review denied, 119 Wn.2d 1010, 833 P.2d 386 (1992). The determination of the prevailing party is often reviewed quite closely on appeal, and at least one court has described it as a mixed question of law and fact to be reviewed under the error of law standard. *Sardam v. Morford*, 51 Wn. App. 908, 911, 756 P.2d 174 (1988). As a general rule, a prevailing party is one against whom no affirmative judgment is entered. *Andersen v. Gold Seal Vineyards*, Inc., 81 Wn.2d 863, 868, 505 P.2d 790 (1973). Here, FAL had no affirmative judgment entered against it. To the contrary, FAL's Judgment was upheld. FAL successfully defended Ms. Carino's RALJ Appeal and preserved its judgment. Thus, FAL is a prevailing party and should be entitled to its Award.

#### C. Settlement Before Default Judgment Was Not Possible.

Ms. Carino did not appear. Offer of settlement are impossible or futile when a default judgment is obtained because a party fails to appear in the case. Ms. Carino impliedly states that default judgments deprive persons of due process, and violate the judicial interest in encouraging settlement. Appellant's Brief at 11. Ms. Carino specifically argues, "The interest of encouraging pre-trial settlements requires cautions (sic) application because it also works to deter access to the courts. These arguments are misplaced, however, because the default judgment obtained in this case was only because of Ms. Carino's failure to appear. Even had the FAL sought to settle the matter with her, she was not present to do so until she appeared nearly a year later and attempted to unwind the default. While settlement is favored in the courts and Washington policy expressly encourages it, settlement was impossible here because Ms. Carino chose not to participate in the litigation against her. *Martin* v. Johnson, 141 Wn. App. 611, 622-23, 170 P.3d 1198, 1204 (2007) (citing City of Seattle v. Blume, 134 Wn.2d 243, 258, 947 P.2d 223 (1997)).

Ms. Carino relies on *Beckmann v. Spokane Transit Auth.*, for the proposition that "the state seeks to encourage out-of-court settlements to promote judicial efficiency, penalize parties who unjustifiably bring or resist small claims, and enable a party to pursue a meretricious small claim

without seeing the award diminished by legal fees incurred through defending an appeal." Appellant's Brief at 12 (citing 107 Wn.2d 785, 788, 733 P.2d 960 (1987)). While this is the principle of Beckmann and the fee-shifting provision of RCW 4.84.250, Ms. Carino misapplies these principles to support that attorney's fees were unavailable to FAL. First, this provision is in direct opposition to Ms. Carino's position. Beckmann illuminated that RCW 4.84.250 has two motives: "(1) to encourage out-ofcourt settlements, and (2) to penalize parties who unjustifiably bring or resist small claims." Id. at 788. The encouragement of settlement is for the purpose of creating judicial efficiency. Furthermore, the holding of Beckmann was that the court declined "to follow the ... narrow construction of the pleading requirement in RCW 4.84.250," and permitted awarding attorney's fees even when not specifically pled. 107 Wn.2d 785 (1987). Both purposes of RCW 4.84.250 are accomplished by the award of attorney's fees in this matter: judicial efficiency by affirming a valid default judgment that was left unchallenged for nearly a year, and penalizing Ms. Carino for her inaction and unjustifiable resistance to the default judgment.

Default judgments when a party fails to appear, like settlements, do promote judicial efficiency. CR 55 permits the court to enter a default judgment when a party fails to appear, plead or otherwise defend an action

against them. So long as the party has received proper notice, as was done in this case, a default judgment encourages swift resolution of litigation rather than leaving cases at a stalemate until the defendant chooses to participate. Ms. Carino's failure to appear was held to be a valid basis for the default judgment in District Court and Superior Court. To hold otherwise invalidates these principles of judicial efficiency and contradicts the statute's purpose fee-shifting for unjustified resistance.

Given that (1) default judgments promote judicial efficiency; (2) RCW 4.84.250 promotes discouraging unjustifiable resistance to small claims; and (3) settlement was unavailable when Ms. Carino failed to appear until a year after the default judgment was obtained, the trial court properly awarded attorney's fees under RCW 4.84.250. The trial court's order of fees should be affirmed.

# D. <u>Awarding Attorney's Fees to FAL Does Not Risk Infringing Constitutional Rights.</u>

A validly obtained default judgment does not infringe upon any constitutional rights and has no basis to prevent the award of attorney's fees permitted by statute. Again, Ms. Carino implies that as a general matter, default judgments violate due process, and disenfranchise litigants from using the courts. Appellant's Brief at 11; 13. Ms. Carino states, "Application of RCW 4.84.250 - .290 to cases post-default judgment creates an unintended and inordinate risk to defendants discouraging

access to the courts and disenfranchising them from use of existing provisions enacted to redress default judgments." *Id.* at 12-13. Ms. Carino continues to discuss the importance a right to sue or defend in court; that default judgments are drastic actions; and the ability of a party to seek appeal of a default judgment. *Id.* Yet, nowhere does Ms. Carino present how imposing attorney's fees after a default judgment is unsuccessfully appealed is an impairment on a person's constitutional rights. Similarly, no authority supports that an imposition of fees would disenfranchise any litigant, more than to the extent the legislature sought to do so by imposing a penalty on "unjustifiable resistance." *Beckmann*, 107 Wn.2d at 788.

FAL validly obtained a default judgment, and the District Court, and Superior Court determined that Ms. Carino was not prejudiced by the judgment when she failed to appear after being properly served. No litigant is disenfranchised from the courts when default judgment is entered because they simply failed to appear, despite adequate notice. Vacation from default judgment occurs under CR 60, which limits the reasons upon which the court can do so.

Furthermore, these arguments are made in effort to obfuscate the real issue: whether or not the trial court properly awarded attorney's fees.

After the court determined that the default judgment was properly

obtained and denied relief from that judgment, arguments that default judgments are too harsh of a result become a side-show. It is correct to state that the court may provide relief from a default judgment under certain circumstances, but here, the court considered those circumstances, and determined that it was improper to vacate the default judgment when Ms. Carino had notice and failed to appear. These arguments loosely, if at all, relate to whether the court properly awarded attorney's fees.

Moreover, neither this holding, nor the award of attorney's fees to FAL expands the scope of the small claims statute, contrary to Appellant's contorted assertions. Appellant's Brief at 14. RCW 4.84.250 *et. seq.* permit the prevailing party to recover attorney's fees, and permitting attorney's fees on the appeal of a default judgment does not improperly expand this statute. Ms. Carino relies upon *Williams v. Tilaye* to support the proposition that fees in this case are unavailable due to such impermissible expansion. Appellant's Brief at 14. *Williams*, however, denied attorney's fees after the parties had already attended mandatory arbitration and appealed for a trial de novo. 174 Wn.2d 57, 272 P.3d 235 (2012). Both parties appeared and participated in the litigation. *Id.* The court there treated the mandatory arbitration as the original trial in the context of RCW 4.84.290, and required that any settlement offer come before the arbitration. *Id.* at 65-66. Here, however, as previously

discussed, there was no opportunity for an offer of settlement before the underlying trial because Ms. Carino did not appear. Furthermore, preventing attorney's fees in this case, and ignoring the fee-shifting provisions of RCW 4.84.250, causes more harm than any expansion of scope of these statutes. To prevent fees under this statute would create the same problem the court in *Williams* sought to avoid: "skew the incentives created by both statutory schemes and frustrate their purposes." *Id.* at 68.

Therefore an award of attorney's fees under RCW 4.84.250 in this case does not expand the scope of the statute, and the validly obtained default judgment should not preclude any award of attorney's fees. The trial court should be affirmed.

### E. FAL Properly Requested and Argued For An Award of Fees and Costs

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